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PER CURI AM **
Def endant Mahmmadu Zzaman Khan appeal s his conviction on
nine counts of making a false statenent to a federal agency in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §8 1001 and for a single count of

conspiracy to violate the sane. He al so appeals the district

" Circuit Judge of the Third Crcuit, sitting by
desi gnati on.

" Pursuant to 5TH GR R 47.5, the Court has deterni ned
that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCGR R
47.5. 4.



court’s determnation that certain other fal se statenents were
rel evant conduct and its calculation of |oss under the sentencing
guidelines. W affirmin all respects.

BACKGROUND

This case arises fromKhan’s attenpt to secure several |oans
fromthe Small Business Admi nistration through the Money Store, a
private |lender. Khan's brother, Shahidu, supposedly wanted to
purchase Khan’s busi ness, Dol lar Auto Service and Body Shop. To
do so, he applied for an S.B. A -backed | oan through the Mney
Store. In order to qualify, Shahidu offered a tax return and
certain records fromhis own business, Frank Equi pnent & Tool s.
The tax return showed his income fromthe previous year was
approxi mately $70, 000; the business records were two invoices
show ng anounts due for equi pnent purchased by Dollar Auto and
si x checks showi ng cash Shahidu had paid into Frank Equi pnent.
The application was approved, and the funds were wired to Frank
Equi pnent .

Unbeknownst to the Money Store and the S.B. A, Khan had
previ ously asked one of his enployees, Frank Acala, to set up a
bank account in the nane of Frank Equi pnent & Tools. He also had
Acal a arrange a mail drop for the new conpany. At trial, Acala
testified that Frank Equi pnent existed only on paper; that the
conpany never received any cash infusions from Khan's brother;

and that no invoices were paid by Dollar Auto. (Shahidu s real



tax return showed that he had nade only $48 that year.) After
the funds arrived fromthe S B. A [|oan, Khan several tinmes asked
Acala to wite himchecks drawn on the Frank Equi pnent account.
Fromthe | oan proceeds, Khan used $130,000 to purchase a filling
station.

Enter Jose and Juan Villanueva. The Villanueva brothers
wanted to purchase the filling station fromKhan, but first they
needed noney. Jose went to the Money Store and secured an S. B. A
| oan for $260,000. It is not clear what Jose had to do to get
t he proceeds, but once he did, he handed them over to Kahn. Kahn
kept the filling station.

Then, roughly a year after Shahidu allegedly applied for the
first loan, Khan hinself applied for a |loan through the Mney
Store. He requested $390, 000, but the |oan was refused, the
Money Store having been infornmed that Khan was under
i nvestigation for fraud. The governnent contends that six
falsified tax returns were submtted in support of the | oan
appl i cation.

Khan was i ndicted on nine counts of naking a fal se statenent
to a federal agency, 18 U S.C. §8 1001 (False Clains Act), and on
one count of conspiracy. At trial, the district court instructed
the jury that it had to find that Khan specifically intended to
m sl ead a federal agency. The jury convicted himon all 10
counts. In addition to the conspiracy conviction, Khan received
a separate conviction for each of the fal se docunents (nine in
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all) submtted by his brother in applying for the first | oan.
The district court determ ned that Khan’s crimnal history
category was |, and the probation office recormended an ei ght-
| evel enhancenent for |oss of nore than $200, 000 but not nore
t han $350, 000. The P.S. R concluded that the other |oans
i nvol ved different conspirators and different businesses and were
therefore not related conduct under the sentencing guidelines.
The governnent objected, urging the district court to include the
| oss anmounts fromthe other two |loans. The district court did,
and Khan was sentenced to 37 nonths’ inprisonnent, the |ongest
termfor soneone of Khan's category and offense |evel (19).

l.

Khan failed to nove for a judgnent of acquittal at the close
of evidence. As a result, we nust uphold Khan’s conviction
absent “a manifest m scarriage of justice.” See United States v.
Laury, 49 F.3d 145, 151 (5th G r. 1995). That standard is net
when “the record is devoid of evidence pointing to guilt, or the
evi dence on a key elenent of the offense is so tenuous that a
convi ction would be shocking.” |Id. (internal quotation omtted).
It is apparent that the district court erroneously instructed the
jury that conviction under the False Cains Act requires the
governnent to prove that the defendant by his fal se statenent
intended to m slead a governnent agency. Such a showing is not

required. See United States v. Yermain, 468 U S. 63, 68-70



(1984). The governnent failed to object to the court’s charging
it with this additional burden, which nade the erroneous
instruction the law of the case. See United States v. Jokel, 969
F.2d 132, 136 (5th Gr. 1992). Nevertheless, the governnent’s
failing to prove a nonessential elenent cannot result in a
mani fest m scarriage of justice. As we noted above, to set aside
a conviction under that standard there nust be a paucity of
evidence on a key elenent. An elenent not described in the
statute of which the defendant is accused of violating cannot by
definition be a key one.
.
Under the sentencing guidelines, “relevant conduct” is

defined as “all acts and omssions . . . that occurred during the
comm ssion of the offense of conviction [or] in preparation for
that offense . . . and were part of the sanme course of conduct or
common schene or plan as the offense of the conviction.” U S.
SENTENCI NG GUI DELINES MANUAL (U. S. S. G) 8§ 1B1.3(a)(1)&(2)(2001).

Whet her two or nore offenses are part of the same course of
conduct turns on “the degree of simlarity of the offenses, the
regularity (repetitions) of the offenses, and the tine interval
between the offenses.” 1d. 8 1B1.3 cnt. n.9(A). Simlarly,
multiple offenses that are part of a common schene or plan are

“substantially connected to each other by at |east one common

factor, such as comon victins, common acconplices, common



purpose, or simlar nodus operandi.” W review the district
court’s determ nation of relevant conduct for clear error. See
United States v. Anderson, 174 F.3d 515, 526 (5th Gr. 1999).

We discern no reversible error in the district court’s
determ nation of relevant conduct. The tinme between the first
| oan application and the |ast was 13 nonths. All three |oans
used the sane nodus operandi: applying for an S.B. A -backed | oan
t hrough the Money Store using false incone tax returns and ot her
fal sified docunents. In each case, the victins were the sane,
the Money Store and the S.B.A. And the proceeds of each | oan
were intended to or did nake their way into Khan’s hands, even if
Khan was not hinself the applicant to all of them

Khan makes nmuch of this court’s opinions in United States v.
Ford, 996 F.2d 83 (5th G r. 1993), and United States v. @arci a,
962 F.2d 479 (5th Gr. 1992). |In those tw cases we were
concerned with whet her defendants’ having been sentenced for
prior offenses made them career offenders under the sentencing
gui delines, which requires that separate sentences for “rel ated
of fenses” be treated as one. See generally U S S. G 8§ 4Al.2(a).
To determ ne whether a prior offense is related or not, the
comentary directs the sentencing court back to 8§ 1Bl1.3(a), which
gives the definition for “relevant conduct.” See id. 8§ 4Al1l.2
cnt. n.1l. Thus, an offense that subjects a defendant to being

sentenced as a career offender cannot also subject himto an
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enhancenent for its being part of the “sane course of conduct or
a common schene or plan as the offense of conviction.” This is

the teaching of our recent opinion in United States v. Cade, 279
F.3d 265 (5th Cr. 2002).

But we need not try to square our conclusion that the
sentences in Ford and Garcia did not arise fromrel ated conduct
wWith ours that the three fraudulent loans in this case did. 1In
both of those cases, this court reviewed the district court’s
determ nation of rel atedness de novo, a practice that the Suprene
Court has since rejected as one for which the courts of appeal
are not well positioned. See Buford v. United States, 121 S. C
1276, 1280 (2001). Thus, even if we disagree with the district
court’s determ nation regardi ng rel at edness, the court cannot
reverse unless it was clear error. For the reasons stated above,
the facts in this case do not support such a conclusion. Second,
possi bl e i nconsi stency between this court’s construction of the
term“rel ated of fense” under § 4Al1.2(a) in Ford and Garcia and
our construction of “relevant conduct” under 8§ 1Bl.3(b) does not
prevent us fromaffirmng the district court’s finding of
rel at edness now, for 8§ 4Al.2(a) did not tie the nmeaning of its
termto 8 1B1.3(b) until after those cases were decided. See
US S. G app. C anendnent 493 (effective Nov. 1, 1993); see also
Garcia, 962 F.2d at 481-82 (noting that the guidelines do not

define “common schene or plan” for purposes of 8§ 4Al.2(a)).
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L1l

Khan failed to object to the district court’s cal cul ati on of
| oss under the sentencing guidelines. W nust therefore uphold
the district court’s determ nation unless plain error is evident.
See United States v. Chung, 261 F.3d 536, 539 (5th Gr. 2001).
The face value of the |oans was $996, 000; the actual |oss
suffered by the victinms was $506, 203. For sentenci ng purposes,
counting intended loss resulted in a one-level increase, which in
turn had the effect of raising Khan’s termof inprisonnment by up
to four nonths.

According to the application notes to the guideline under
whi ch Khan was sentenced, “[i]n fraudul ent |oan application
cases[,] . . . . the loss is the anobunt of the |loan not repaid at
the time the offense is discovered, reduced by the anount the
I ending institution has recovered (or can expect to recover) from
any assets pledged to secure the loan.” US S. G 8§ 2F1.1 cmt
n. 8(b) (2000), consolidated at U S.S.G § 2B1.1 cnt. n.2 (2001).
The sanme application notes also state that in sonme cases actua
loss “Wwll tend not to reflect adequately the risk of |oss
created by the defendant’s conduct.” |d. Here, as noted before,
Khan sought but was not approved for the third | oan, whose face
val ue was $350, 000. Not counting this amunt as |oss woul d have
the effect of understating the seriousness of Khan's conduct.

Furthernore, the reason there was no actual loss on the third



| oan was that the Money Store had | earned that Khan was suspected
of maki ng ot her bad | oans, not because that Khan had done sone
salutary act. Cf. id. Finally, there being no findings
regardi ng the value of any collateral Khan m ght have pl edged in
support of the third | oan, we have no way of eval uating whet her
Khan coul d not have intended to convert the full anount, as he
now argues. For these reasons, we discern no plain error in the
district court’s counting the full $350, 000.

CONCLUSI ON

Khan's convi ctions and sentence are AFFI RVED



